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THE OWNERS 
 
Early in 1912, James Allen Freeman, a retired lumberman, and his wife Rose Graham Freeman 
purchased Lot 29 of Block B--a 2 ½ acre site in the fashionably new Oak Knoll residential area 
of Pasadena.  The lot was situated at the southeast corner of Hillcrest Avenue and Kewen Drive 
(then called Canon Drive) and ran all the way down the canyon to Encino Drive.  They 
reportedly paid $20,000 for their new home-site which boasted both mountain and valley views 
and a grove of 150 oak trees at its east end.  The seller was the William R. Staats Company, a 
Pasadena real estate and investment firm.  The Staats Company had bought the property on 
speculation just a short time before from the Oak Knoll Company--a firm controlled by Henry 
Huntington, which had subdivided the former sheep ranch in 1907.   
 
In August 1912, Mr. and Mrs. Freeman commissioned two talented Pasadena brothers, Arthur 
and Alfred Heineman, to design a home for them in the then-popular Craftsman style.  They 
asked that the design reflect an English Arts and Crafts influence with the rolled, elliptical gables 
for which the Heinemans were becoming famous.  Mr. Freeman no doubt made it plain he 
wanted only the best quality wood used for the interior finishes.  C. E. Overton of Alhambra was 
selected as the builder.  The house was to cost an astounding $23,000--this at a time when the 
average middle-class house and lot could be purchased for around $2,500.  The sale of the lot 
and construction of the house were announced in the local newspapers.  Sample articles are 
reproduced on pages 18 through 20. 
 
Mr. Freeman was 64 years old when the building permit for his new home was issued.  He would 
share the property with his family, a live-in servant, and a Japanese-born gardener and the 
gardener’s family.  
 
Born in Medina County, Ohio, on June 22, 1848, the son of Joseph H. and Caroline (Wilcox) 
Freeman, James Allen Freeman was educated in the public schools.  He attended Cornell College 
in Mt. Vernon, Iowa for two years, but by 1879 was employed as the secretary of the Cable 
Lumber Company of Davenport, Iowa.  
 
Mrs. Freeman was born Rose A. Graham in Bellevue, Iowa in June 1850.  Her father John was a 
druggist. Her mother Euretta was Canadian.  By 1870, Euretta and Rose were living in 
Wisconsin where both women were employed as teachers.  Rose married her husband in Iowa in 
1879.  They would have two daughters:  Mary Louise Freeman (1881-1958) and Helen Dorothy 
Graham Freeman (1882-1953).    
 
In 1891, Mr. Freeman became president of the Freeman-Smith Lumber Company of Millville, 
Arkansas, one of the largest lumber manufacturers in the southern United States. It was about 
this time that the Freemans began to spend their winters in the South Orange Grove 
neighborhood of Pasadena.  As a result, Mr. Freeman’s business and social activities began to be 
split between his two homes.  For example, as well as running his own company, he served as a 
director of the Arkansas and Vancouver Lumber Company and secretary-treasurer of the Los 
Angeles & Alberta Investment Company. He helped organize the Southern Lumber Association 
and was one of its first presidents.  He was treasurer of the National Lumber Manufacturers 
Association and was a delegate to the St. Louis convention of 1896.  Mr. Freeman’s social 
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memberships were many, including the Glen Echo, Mercantile, and Athletic Clubs of St. Louis 
and the Midwick and Annandale Golf Clubs of Pasadena.  He also served on the Board of  
Trustees of Occidental College.  A Republican and a Methodist, Mr. Freeman was remembered 
for his philanthropic activities and wide circle of friends.  (He must have changed 
denominational affiliation, because his obituary says he was serving as an elder of the Pasadena 
Presbyterian Church at the time of his death.)  A copy of the entry for Mr. Freeman in the 1913 
edition of Who’s Who In the Pacific Southwest can be found on page 21. 
 
Mr. Freeman did not live to enjoy his house for very long.  He died at home on  
April 8, 1916 at the age of 67 from a recurring attack of malaria that he was said to have 
contracted originally while living in the south.  A copy of the newspaper article announcing his 
death is attached on page 22.  The writer makes the comment that the Freemans’ Hillcrest home 
“is one of the most beautiful in Pasadena and the laying out of its hillside gardens was a matter in 
which the late owner took great delight.” 
 
By 1918, the property was owned jointly by Rose Freeman and her two daughters.  Louise had 
married Thomas S. Bell, a Los Angeles attorney. All four lived in the house together during the 
1920s.  Mr. Bell, born in Illinois in 1883, was educated in the southwest and at Oxford where he 
was a Rhodes Scholar.  He received a law degree from Columbia University and, after serving as 
a professor of law at the University of Washington, set up a private practice in Los Angeles in 
1913.  He evidently took over much of his late father-in-law’s lumber interests and also owned a 
large sugar-beet farm in Hemet.  He was a member of the University Club and became well-
known as an amateur botanist and Spanish linguist.  Louise Bell was active in local civic affairs.  
Please see the biographical information on Mr. Bell attached on page 24. 
 
Rose Freeman died at age 78 in October 1928.  Her brief obituary from the Los Angeles Times is 
attached on page 23.   
 
Around 1930, the chauffeur’s quarters over the garage was rented out, its address being listed as 
1330 1/2. Some of the renters included Arthur Koehler, a gardener, and his wife Carrie and 
Claud Cooney, a salesman.  The Freeman family rented out the main house, as well, between 
about 1933 and 1944, to John F. and Mary B. Burkhard. Mr. Burkhard was president of a real 
estate company.   
 
After over thirty years of family ownership, the Freemans sold the property to Dr. Frederick F. 
and Winnie P. Alsup in April 1944. Dr. Alsup was a physician who had recently relocated to 
Southern California from Hawaii.  
 
The Alsups owned the property for only two years, selling in January 1946 to James J. Prentice, 
an insurance agent, and his wife Dorothy T. Prentice.  Mrs. Prentice was active in the Ruskin Art 
Club.  Living with them was Marion C. Prentice, a student.   
 
In September 1964 the Prentices sold the property (now down to 1.93 acres) to Martin O. and 
Denise C. Riley.  Mr. Riley was owner of the Riley Plastics Company at that time.  Later, he was 
associated with Recreational Components and Mobile Modular Industries, both plastic 
manufacturing firms.   
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After over thirty years of ownership, the Rileys sold in October 1996 to Patrick and Sonia 
Cowell.  Mr. Cowell was chief executive officer of Airport Group International. 
 
In June 2002, Michael D. Schneickert was recorded as the trustee owner.  He was managing 
director of a wealth management firm. His restoration of the Freeman house was said to have 
cost at least $8 million. After his death in July 2015, his widow Karen L. Otamura became a 
trustee owner. 
 
In June 2016, William and Brenda Galloway, representing the Galloway Family Trust, gained 
title. 
 
The property now encompasses slightly less than one acre.   
 
 
THE ARCHITECTS 
 
The California Arts and Crafts movement was full of amateurs who had little or no formal 
training in architecture.   But by all odds, the most successful of the amateurs were the brothers 
Arthur and Alfred Heineman.  They came from Chicago to Pasadena in 1894, just a year after the 
arrival of the Greene brothers, who are considered to be the originators of the California 
Craftsman style.   
 
Arthur Heineman was born in Chicago in November 1878, the son of Theodore Heineman.  The 
family moved to Southern California in 1894.  Mrs.  Heineman died in a tragic accident in Los 
Angeles in 1899, run over by a streetcar.  The senior Mr. Heineman later married Charlotte Holt, 
and in 1904 he had a two-story nine-room home built at 849-853 Lincoln Avenue in Pasadena 
where the family lived until about 1912.   
 
Arthur began his architectural career as a speculator interested in building houses, only to sell 
them to others caught by the lure of the California climate and dream.  He was a businessman 
noted not only for his financial acumen but also for his innovative construction ideas.  He set up 
his firm in Room 1403 of the Union Trust Building in downtown Los Angeles, calling it A. S. 
Heineman & Company.  He procured all the clients and did all the client liaison relations and 
owner contacts.  With absolutely no formal architectural training, Arthur would talk to his 
customers and map out the general plan for the house.  He was primarily interested in the 
building’s size, shape, and arrangement of rooms and flow of traffic through it.  He would then 
hand the design to someone else in the office who had drafting experience.  (At the height of his 
company’s success, he employed at least eighteen draftsmen.)  As the popularity of his firm 
spread, other architects became concerned about the reputation of the profession, and pressured 
Arthur to become a registered architect.  Even without formal training, Arthur finally conceded 
to take an examination in 1910, and after just a few questions, was given the certificate. 
 
Arthur was married in 1907 to Irene Taylor, a graduate of the University of California, and a 
famous educator and community worker.  She was Assistant Superintendent of Schools for the 
State of California and was a trustee of Occidental College and the Osteopathic College.  She 
and Arthur had three daughters.  After their marriage they lived in Pasadena and then South 
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Pasadena.  When the children were of school age, they lived in Hollywood.  Later they moved to 
Beverly Hills and Los Angeles.  They were living in Glendale when Irene died in 1960. 
 
Alfred Heineman, four years younger than Arthur, was born in 1882.  Like Arthur, he had no 
architectural training, but he said that he had taken a course in design at Throop Polytechnic 
from the eminent design theorist (and later tile-maker), Ernest Batchelder.  Pointing to the 
fireplace in a house, he is reported to have said, “I almost always put something by Batchelder in 
my houses as a tribute to the man who gave me my only training in design.”  
 
Alfred’s interest in the environment was not limited to architecture.  One of his particular 
interests was in city planning.  When he was a very young man living at home with his father and 
family on Lincoln Avenue, he promoted the idea of a municipal tree nursery for Pasadena.    
It was he who in 1907 proposed a formalized City tree-planting plan along Pasadena streets--a 
legacy that has contributed to the “urban forest” beauty of that community.  In 1919 he was 
named secretary of the Los Angeles City Planning Association.  In 1923 he was appointed to the 
new Los Angeles City Planning Commission and served for four years, working on city plans for 
Los Angeles, San Pedro, and Pasadena.  After his partnership with his brother ended, Alfred was 
involved with the Hollywood Improvement Association (1940 to 1962).  He was always 
interested in civic improvements and developed designs for such structures as a cinema museum 
for Hollywood (1959), new ideas for the Los Angeles Convention Center (1966), the Los 
Angeles Central Library (1970), and a magnificent Riverside Park Drive (1971) connecting 
Griffith and Elysian Parks. (It included a scenic drive along Elysian Park's cliffs with five turn-
out viewpoints and four boulevard intersections with gardens and fountains in the centers).  
 
Alfred’s first buildings date from the year 1905 at which time he was working on his own as a 
builder/contractor.  His Pasadena houses include:   966 N. Marengo (1905), 950 N. Marengo 
(1905), and 1116 N. Marengo (1906).  During the same period Alfred was designer/contractor, 
but not owner, of 925 and 935 Worcester (both 1905) and 520 W. California (1905).  However, 
his lack of what he called “business push” made it advantageous for him to go into partnership, 
first with his brother Herbert, a real estate agent, in 1906.  They built at least two homes in 
Pasadena at 285 W. Mountain (1906) and 269 W. Mountain (1907) which have since been 
destroyed.  Soon after, in 1909, Alfred went into partnership with his brother Arthur, forming an 
association which would last until 1939. 
 
There is no question that Alfred was the sensitive, artistic type in a family of uncommon ability 
in practical matters.  He was the person who gave style to the Heineman projects--but the firm 
always remained “Arthur S. Heineman & Company.”  Alfred solved the esthetic problems while 
Arthur, who undoubtedly criticized and finally approved Alfred’s drawings, took care of the 
business side and nourished the inventive bent of his younger brother.   
 
Alfred estimated that he and Arthur were responsible for 1,000 to 1,500 designs for buildings 
throughout California and the nation during their remarkable career.  Between 1909 and 1917, 
the period of the Heinemans’ most intense interest in Arts and Crafts design, the firm produced 
over twenty residences in Pasadena, fourteen in the bungalow style.  A great number of their 
bungalows also appeared in the Westlake (MacArthur Park) and Silverlake areas of Los Angeles.  
In 1912 Alfred won first prize in a competition for the best suggestion on how to develop a 
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3,000-lot subdivision of bungalows in Oakland.  Plans for one of the Heineman bungalows in 
Monrovia were published in The Ladies Home Journal, and were made available for sale by the 
magazine (cost: $10), helping to spread the popularity of this style across the United States.   
 
Alfred would later write: 
 

This was the bungalow period in Southern California and the "freedom of 
construction" created a new more livable plan and attractive freedom of 
appearance.  "Freedom of construction" was no deep foundation against 
frost, no insulated walls and roof against cold, no steep roofs against 
snow, and because air-conditioning had not arrived, wide overhanging 
roof eaves and extensive front porches.  We soon created our own style 
which attracted attention.   

 
The Heinemans were also pioneers in the development of the “bungalow court,” which is said to 
have been invented in Pasadena.  The first court in Pasadena was the St. Francis Court designed 
by Sylvanus Marston in May 1909.  The second bungalow court in Pasadena, Los Robles Court, 
was designed by the Heinemans in July 1910.  Neither of these exist today, although some of the 
bungalows from St. Francis Court were moved to South Catalina Avenue.  Bowen Court, 
designed by the Heinemans in September 1910 on East Villa Street, is the oldest court standing 
in Pasadena today. 
 
Careful planning and definite standards were required by the Heineman firm for their designs.  
According to Western Architect, one of them said: 
 

You cannot build a successful bungalow court on a lot less than 112 feet 
wide.  This is the first condition, even though its depth may vary... 

 
The central road should be like any first-class footpath, with side paths 
leading to the bungalows.  On a lot 112 feet wide there is room enough for 
a delivery walk at the rears of the bungalows, on both sides next to the 
enclosing fence.  Not a road: all deliveries must be made through the 
entrances from the street...If the lot is 120 feet wide, or more, there will be 
room enough for a driveway for delivery purposes on one side and paths 
should be provided between the bungalows on that side, across the 
grounds to the back doors of houses on the opposite side... 

 
For a court of more than ten or twelve houses, there should be provided a 
small clubhouse for the convenience of all tenants: a double deck outdoor 
pavilion, the first story of which should be a children's play house and the 
upper deck a mother's sewing room and summer house.  In a court of this 
size there should be a common laundry and drying yard, well screened 
from observation. 

 
In planning separate bungalows, kitchens should not be opposite each 
other or opposite to living rooms, nor should living rooms be opposite to 
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each other.  By observing this rule there will necessarily be a great variety 
in the arrangement of the houses involving a study of the entire court as a 
whole, calling for great ingenuity in planning and avoiding the effect of 
rows of houses according to the old practice.  As a natural consequence 
there will be a great variety in the designs of the different bungalows... 

 
Arthur Heineman felt he lived in the most innovative time in all history--and he continually 
proved himself to be a man for his time.  Nowhere is this more evident than in his conceptions 
for commercial structures.  One of the Heinemans' earliest commercial commissions was for the 
White Oaks Farm Sanatorium in Marion, Ohio, in November 1911.  The finished complex 
consisted of fifteen fireproof buildings connected by 1,000 feet of heated cloister, situated on 
acres of parklike grounds.  It was an innovative design at the time and seems to be a direct 
adaptation of the bungalow court idea becoming popular in California. 
 
Arthur also worked on ideas for several futuristic concepts that never got built.  One of the most 
grandiose was for a condominium proposal for the top of Mt. Washington in 1913.  It was an 
"own your own apartment" complex called "Parnassus".  As well as individual apartments, the 
complex was to have contained a dining room, ball and assembly room, playrooms, billiard 
rooms, an art gallery, bowling alleys, gymnasium, tennis courts and Roman baths!  Arthur also 
developed plans in 1916 for an enormous civic auditorium and Chautauqua center. 
 
One of the Heinemans' largest commissions was for the Pig 'n' Whistle Cafes.  They designed the 
first one about 1915 and continued through the years to do between 25 and 40 restaurants from 
San Diego to Seattle. 
 
Besides serious commercial structures, the brothers also did fanciful buildings for the 
Expositions of 1915.  At the San Diego Exposition, they were responsible for the Ostrich Farm 
and the Chinese Underground Life exhibits, while in San Francisco they did the roller coaster 
and the Cawston Ostrich Farm.  They also designed the roller coaster at Ocean Park. 
 
Following the earliest period of bungalow courts and with the ownership of automobiles filtering 
down to the middle class, Arthur conceived of the idea of a "motel" instead of a hotel for the 
traveling public.  On December 24, 1925 he registered the name "Mo-tel" with the Library of 
Congress, and during the following year built the first motel--the Motel Inn, parts of which still 
stand next to the Apple Farm resort on Highway 1 at the north end of San Luis Obispo. 
 
Using these same auto-centric influences, Arthur conceived of drive-in banks, and incorporated 
many of his ideas into designs for Hellman Bank branches.  He also used these same principles 
in 1935 when he designed a medical complex near 3rd and Alvarado using a drive-in bungalow 
arrangement.   This early interest in the automobile is explained by Arthur Heineman’s love 
affair with the then-novel form of transportation.  He is said to have purchased the second or 
third car ever sold in Los Angeles. 
 
Besides his interest in cars, Arthur's special hobby was inventions.  He loved to change and 
improve designs.  Some of his ideas and innovations in commercial structures included: raising 
drainboards and sinks from 28" to 33" (the current standard), adding toe slots under kitchen 
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cabinets, developing sliding shelves in refrigerators and sliding trays in candy stores, changing 
soda fountain counter heights by lowering the level of the work floors behind them, modifying 
designs for booths, and improving designs for fire prevention.  No idea was too tiny for his 
attention. 
 
In everyday life Arthur constantly found inspiration for his inventions.  Among the hundreds of 
ideas he developed were:  a machine for slicing butter, signal lights for motor vehicles, a nasal 
device to aid breathing, a foam-rubber envelope-type soap holder, a stool for stoop labor in the 
fields, safety belts for automobiles, a photo/slide device, an electric pulsar for regulating 
heartbeats while sleeping, and an orthopedic footstool for watching television. 
 
During the last twelve years of his life, after the death of his wife, Arthur lived in Los Angeles 
with Alfred, who had never married.  He died February 4, 1972, aged 93 years.   
 
Alfred worked on some independent projects for structures and did considerable independent 
work in Palm Springs during the late 1920s and early 30s, and again during parts of the 1940s.  
He had a financial interest in a Palm Springs tract, serving as its architectural supervisor and 
designing some of the houses.  He died January 27, 1974 at the age of 91. 
 
For almost seventy years these two outstanding brothers helped shape the architectural scene of 
Los Angeles.  They designed in all styles, from Craftsman to Modern, and their untiring zest and 
enthusiasm for innovation and good design is truly remarkable.  Today, hundreds of their 
buildings stand in Southern California as a testament to their creative contribution to the face of 
our region during the time of its greatest growth and change. 
 
Besides the Freeman house, among the many other beautiful Craftsman-era Heineman homes 
still standing in the Pasadena area are: 
 
781 Prospect Blvd.--Hindry House (1909) 
Southeast corner Los Robles and California--Parsons House (c.1910)--moved in 1980 to 1605 E. 

Altadena Dr., Altadena 
909 Arden Road.--Bassett House (1911) 
674 Elliott Drive--Ross House (1911) 
1250 South El Molino Avenue (1911) 
885 South El Molino Avenue (c.1911) 
2305 South Los Robles Avenue, San Marino—Krebser House (1911) 
1327 South Oak Knoll Avenue--O’Brien House (c.1912) 
1233 Wentworth Avenue (1913) 
 
(Note: This biography of the Heineman brothers is a compilation of the work of Robert W. 
Winter, Nancy Impastato, and Tim Gregory.) 
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THE ARCHITECTURAL STYLE 
 
The popularity of the bungalow coincided with the rise of the Arts and Crafts movement in the 
United States.  Gustav Stickley has been credited with the wide popularity of the Arts and Crafts 
movement in America.  Seen as rebels against both the complicated style of the Victorian age 
and impersonal products of the new machine age, Craftsman proponents created a new 
appreciation for hand craftsmanship.  Stickley's Craftsman magazine, published from 1901 to 
1916, brought his ideals and the theory of a new style of architecture to the nation.  Craftsman 
Homes, a bungalow design book published by Stickley, allowed inexperienced owners and small 
contractors to build bungalows which were inexpensive and simple in design and construction, 
yet comfortable and in tune with their natural surroundings. 
 
But the chief "brick and mortar" inspiration for the Craftsman style came from two brothers 
living in Pasadena--Charles Sumner Greene and Henry Mather Greene who practiced between 
1893 and 1914.  About 1903 they began to design simple Craftsman-type bungalows; by 1909 
they had designed and executed several exceptional landmark examples that have been called the 
"ultimate bungalows."  The two most well-known of these in Pasadena are the Gamble House at 
4 Westmoreland Place and the Blacker House at 1177 Hillcrest Avenue, for both of which the 
Greenes created a total "look", including furniture, fabrics, and landscaping.  Several influences--
the English Arts and Crafts movement, an interest in Oriental wooden architecture, an 
appreciation of the Swiss chalet tradition, and their early training in the manual arts--appear to 
have led the Greenes to design and construct these intricately detailed buildings.   
 
These and similar residences were given extensive publicity in such magazines as the Western 
Architect, The Architect, House Beautiful, Good Housekeeping, Architectural Record, Country 
Life in America, and Ladies' Home Journal, thus familiarizing the rest of the nation with their 
style.  As a result, a flood of pattern books appeared, offering plans for Craftsman bungalows; 
some even offered completely pre-cut packages of lumber and detailing to be assembled by local 
labor.  Through these vehicles, the one-story Craftsman house quickly became the most popular 
and fashionable smaller house in the country.  (Architectural historians David Gebhard and 
Robert Winter have characterized this architecture as the closest thing to a democratic art that 
has ever been produced.)  High-style interpretations are rare except in California, where they 
have been called the Western Stick style.  One-story vernacular examples are often called simply 
"California bungalows."    
 
As early as 1904, Pasadena was widely known for its Craftsman homes which differed from their 
Eastern and Midwestern counterparts.  It is no surprise that those living near the Arroyo Seco 
favored the Craftsman style which fit so superbly in such a picturesque, rustic setting.  The 
defining elements of the style were the use, and in fact the glorification, of natural materials; a 
horizontal orientation; low-pitched gable roofs; wood detailing, including dark stained heavy 
beams and timbers, sometimes attached together by metal banding; exposed rafters; wide roof 
overhangs with unenclosed eaves, supported by brackets; wide porches; horizontal bands of 
casement windows (often with Tiffany-type stained glass accents in the more costly homes); 
massive brick, block, or stone foundations, porch supports, and walls; and visible guttering and 
drainage systems that were often incorporated into the design by means of metal bracketing.  
Interior built-in features such as bookcases and dining-room buffets were popular.  Lighting 
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fixtures were often copper with tinted glass.  A few Craftsman architects also incorporated 
elements from other popular styles, such as Eastern Shingle and English Tudor or skewed the 
architectural elements into a Japanese or Swiss look.  Although the emphasis was on simplicity 
of design, a break from the ornamented cluttered style of the Victorian period, some of the larger 
architectural creations were "bungalows" in name only. 
 
The popularity of Craftsman homes for the wealthy ended around 1912, but the middle class 
continued to build in the style through 1914.  World War I drastically slowed down building and 
development in general in Pasadena.  Before 1917, houses were being built at a rate of 
approximately 500 per year, dropping to about 140 in 1917 and 40 in 1918.  After the war, some 
modest Craftsman homes were built in working class neighborhoods through the early 1920s.  
Materials changed after the war, giving the Craftsman homes of this period a different look.  The 
size of timber had changed from 2 x 4" to 1 1/2 x 3 1/2" and formerly rough wood surfaces had 
given way to smooth surfaces.  As a result, late Craftsman homes were stylistically more 
restrained and refined and the characteristic elements were on a reduced scale. 
 
The Freeman house has always been described as a reflection of the English Arts and Crafts 
style--an oversized version of a traditional Cotswold cottage with its thatch-like roof, half-
timbered walls, and banks of small-paned windows.  In recent years, however, some architectural 
historians have likened its appearance to that of a Japanese “Minka,” translated as “a house of 
the people.”  A sub-group of the Minka style, called Noka, were built for farmers. Like the 
Freeman house, they also had thatched roofs, plastered walls, and, in some cases, elliptical 
gables.    
 
 
THE HOUSE AND PROPERTY IN THE PUBLIC RECORD 
 
The City of Pasadena issued permit #689A to J. A. Freeman on August 6, 1912 for a two-story, 
sixteen-room dwelling and garage.  The house was to measure 35 by 144 feet and was to be 25 
feet at its highest point.  It was to have a concrete foundation, a shingle roof, wooden walls, 
wood and tile floors, and three brick chimneys with seven flues.  A copy of this permit can be 
found on pages 30 and 31. 
 
Wiring for an electric motor was installed in December 1922.  This was followed in May by the 
construction of an elevator shaft that measured 7 by 7 by 25 feet and the installation of a 2-ton 
passenger elevator.  The cost was $1,200.  
 
In June 1923 a permit was issued for the construction of an addition to the garage.  It was to have 
frame walls and a composition roof.  A. C. Brandt of Pasadena was the contractor for this $300 
job.   
 
An electrical permit was issued in June 1927 for a number of new electrical fixtures and new 
wiring in the kitchen area.   
 
A chicken house, to measure ten feet square and seven feet tall, was permitted around 1930 
(there is no year visible on the permit.)   
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New furnace outlets in the hall, dining room, den, and breakfast room were permitted in 
December 1937.   
 
The house was re-roofed in June 1943.   
 
A gas outlet to be used with laundry equipment was permitted in October 1964.   
 
In January 1965 a new water closet was installed.   
 
The house was re-roofed again in December 1971.   
 
Electrical service was upgraded to 200 amps and a new electrical conduit was run to the house in 
November 1976.  
 
Also in November 1976, a proposal was made to divide the then-1.93-acre property into three 
separate parcels.  The house would remain on a 43,000-square-foot parcel, and two new parcels 
fronting on Kewen Drive, would be created—one at 20,000 square feet and the other at 21,000 
square feet. 
 
In May 1977, a permit was issued for construction of a swimming pool.  It was to measure 
approximately 18 by 42 feet and had a capacity of 31,200 gallons.  R. B. Perry & Associates of 
Arcadia was the engineer and the contractor for this $8,500 project.  In conjunction with the pool 
construction, a permit was issued for a 65-foot-long block retaining wall which would range in 
height from two to eight feet and would cost $1,200.  Perry & Associates was again the builder.  
In July, fencing and a wooden pool deck were permitted at a cost of $4,000.  Howard E. Hanson 
of Arcadia was the contractor.   
 
The roof was repaired with Class A glass-ply materials in January 1984.  The cost was $2,000.   
A totally new roof with Class A fiberglass shingles was installed in February 1989 at a cost of 
$7,000. 
 
In October 1996, the master bathroom and a closet were to be remodeled for $18,000.  Yinco 
General Construction of Los Angeles was the contractor. At the same time, a new HVAC system 
was installed on both floors, with forced-air units replacing an old gravity furnace. 
 
Electrical capacity was further increased to 400 amps in April 1997. 
 
A permit was issued in February 2001 to remodel another bathroom and closet for $4,000.  The 
owner was to act as his own contractor. 
 
A seismic retrofit costing $5,000 occurred in December 2002. Foundation bolting was upgraded 
by Avadon Construction, Inc., of Los Angeles. 
 
In March 2003, $50,000 was to be spent on underpinning the foundation due to settlement.  
Hillside Repair & Drilling, Inc., of Placentia was the contractor. 
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The house was to be re-roofed with Class A system wood shingles at a cost of $65,000, 
according to a permit issued in August 2003. Robert A. Warren of Downey was the contractor. 
 
Between September 2003 and June 2008, there were six permitted projects to build retaining 
walls on the property.  The total cost was over $60,000. 
 
A permit was issued in November 2003 for extensive interior and exterior remodeling. No 
additional square footage was to be added, but the work was to include repairing the interior 
stairs, adding a covered deck at the second-floor level, installing a new terrace on the first floor, 
and extending the basement.  The cost was estimated at $150,000. Martin Rodriguez of Long 
Beach was the contractor, and Kelly Sutherlin McLeod of Long Beach was the architect.   
(Ms. McLeod was no longer connected with the project after April 2006.) 
 
In January 2006, permission was given to relocate the two-story garage with guesthouse to a new 
location on the property.  It was to be placed on a new subterranean garage/foundation structure.  
Scott Lightfoot Studios of Pasadena was to handle this $150,000 project. 
 
Construction of a new swimming pool and koi pond was permitted in January 2007, to cost 
$70,000.  R. B. Perry & Associates of Arcadia was the contractor. 
 
Installation of a flagpole was permitted in August 2008, to cost $2,000. 
 
Copies of many of these permits are attached on pages 32 through 43. 
 
(Note: Permits for very minor alterations, such as water heater replacement, are not included.  
Also not included are permits missing from the file or whose microfilmed or digital copies are 
indecipherable and not otherwise recorded or described in Assessor’s records.)    

The Pasadena City Assessor first visited the property on March 14, 1918 and recorded a single 
two-story residence with a concrete foundation, walls of plaster over metal-lath, bay windows, a 
cut-up gabled roof with shingles laid in a “thatch” pattern, and exterior trim of brick, plaster, and 
ornamental wood.  The Assessor rated the over-all construction quality as “extra good.”  (In fact, 
“good” was the highest rating available on the form, but the Assessor wrote in “extra” next to it.) 
 
Heat was provided by four fireplaces with “expensive tiled mantels” and a Reesor System 
vacuum gas furnace.  There were twenty plumbing fixtures, electrical fixtures of “good” quality, 
and a centralized vacuuming system. Interior finishes were termed “ornamental” and “special.”  
The Assessor commented that the interior finish was “clearcut” and plain but exceptionally good.  
Wood used was red gum on the first floor and cedar on the second floor.  All but five rooms had 
enameled (painted) woodwork.  A buffet and three bookcases were built-in.  There were fourteen 
hardwood floors in the house--seven on each level.   
 
The Assessor estimated the square footage at 8,544.  On the first floor were five living rooms, 
two bedrooms, one bathroom, and a kitchen. The second floor contained five bedrooms and four 
bathrooms, three of which had tiled floors and walls.  There was also a basement that measured 
124 feet long and 6 feet deep.   
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On the same day, the Assessor recorded a two-story garage that had a concrete foundation, bay 
windows, and plaster-over-metal-lath walls.  It also had a “thatched” shingled roof and exterior 
trim of ornamental wood.  The building had eight plumbing fixtures.  Interior finishes were rated 
as “plain” and “stock.”  A “patent (hide-away) bed” was built-in.  The total square footage was 
1,626.  On the first floor were a living room, bedroom, bathroom, kitchen, and a storage/toilet 
room.  The entire second floor was devoted to a billiard room.  The Assessor also noted that 
there were 1,300 square feet of concrete driveway.   
 
Copies of the City Assessor’s records are attached, beginning on pages 44 through 47. 
 
The Los Angeles County Assessor currently estimates the square footage of the house at 8,129 
with five bedrooms and eight bathrooms. 
 
(Note: The Pasadena City Assessor’s Office ceased operations in 1974.  Their square footage 
totals often differed from those of the Los Angeles County Assessor’s Office, since they 
frequently included garages, terraces, patios, etc. in their computation.  It is advisable to rely on 
the County Assessor’s square footage figures since they are more up-to-date and consistent.)  

 
 
THE WORLD AND COMMUNITY IN 1912 
 
The world was still basking in the prosperous, peaceful sunlight of the Edwardian era, unaware 
or deliberately ignoring the signs of impending doom ahead, as the Balkan League declared war 
on Turkey.  China became a republic under the presidency of Yuan Shi Kai in February.  
Woodrow Wilson was elected President that year.  But perhaps the most newsworthy item on the 
news-wires of the time was the sinking of the Titanic on April 14. 
 
California was also an optimistic place in 1912 under the reform-minded governorship of Hiram 
Johnson.  The previous year, the state had acquired the most comprehensive system of public 
utility regulation then in existence.  Southern California had already become a magnet for new 
residents whose demand for water would see the completion of the great Los Angeles Aqueduct 
in 1913. 
 
Pasadena was also caught up in the dream of unlimited progress and growth, tempered with the 
ideal of becoming Southern California's most cultured city.  The cornerstone was laid for the first 
unit of Pasadena High School at the corner of Colorado and Hill (now Pasadena City College) in 
June.  It was a big year for education, since Longfellow School first opened for classes in 
September.  Also in 1912, the voters approved a $1,134,515 bond issue establishing the Pasadena 
Municipal Water Department.  The Pasadena Woman's Club, the Music Study Club, and the 
Pasadena Music and Art Association were all organized.  The City acquired the property for the 
future Brookside Park, opening up the first swimming pool there later in the year, while the 
business community lauded the founding of the Security National Bank. 
 
A short history of the development of the Oak Knoll neighborhood by noted local historian Ann 
Scheid, published in the souvenir booklet Oak Knoll 1910, is attached on pages 16 and 17. 
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NOTES 
 
The property has been described in real estate advertisements and home tours over the years.  
Samples of each can be found on pages 25 through 29. 
 
The house is also mentioned in Gebhard and Winter’s An Architectural Guidebook to Los 
Angeles.  They comment on the use of Batchelder tile on both the exterior and interior.  A copy 
of the entry in their book is reproduced on page 27. 
 
According to Gebhard and Winter, the roof-line of the house was altered at some point in its 
history, the original rolled edge shingles being replaced with a flat fascia board. No building 
permit is on record for such an alteration. The original roof has since been restored. 
 
 
THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE PROPERTY 
 
The Freeman House was selected by the Pasadena Arts Council in 1969 as one of the twelve 
most architecturally important “heritage homes” in the city.   
 
The property was listed on the National Register of Historic Places on August 8, 2005 and was 
designated a City Landmark in September 2016.  The City’s recording document, which includes 
a good physical description of the house, is attached on pages 48 and 49. 
 
Pasadena Heritage holds a preservation easement on the exterior of the house.   
 
The Freeman house is one of the master-works of regionally significant architects, is associated 
with significant owners, is an outstanding example of historic preservation, and contributes to the 
architectural and historic significance of the Oak Knoll neighborhood which itself is potentially 
eligible for listing as a historic district on the National Register.   
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